
The CHAIRMAN put to the vote the Belgian Le ~RI%~DENT met aux voix l’amendement 
amendment to the first sentence of article IV. belge à la première phrase de l’article IV. 

The amendnzent wa.s rejected by 24 votes to Par 24 voix cwtre 17, avec zme abstention, 
17, with 1 abstenztion. l’amendement est rejeté. 

The CKAIRMAN put to the vote the text pro- 
posed by the Ad Hoc Committee for the first 
sentence of article IV, 

Le PRÉSIDENT met aux voix le texte proposé 
par le Comité spécial pour la première phrase 
de l’article IV. 

The text waî adopted by 30 votes to 3, with 6 
abstentions. 

Par 30 voix contre 3, avec 6 abstentiow, cet 
texte est adopté. 

Mr. FITZMAURICE (United Kingdom) said he 
had voted against the text of the Ad Hoc Com- 
mittee because he had always objected to the 
words “&a11 be punishable”, but that was a ques- 
tion of drafting which could be settled by the 
drafting committee. Mr. Fitzmaurice recalled that 
only individuals, and not Governments, were 
punishable. He would have preferred the words 
“shall constitute infractions”. 

M. FITZMAURICE (Royaume-Uni) déclare qu’il 
a voté contre le texte du Comité spécial parce 
qu’il a toupours eu une objection contre les 
mots “seront punis”, mais il s’agit là d’une 
question de rédaction qui pourra être tranchée 
par le comité de rédaction. M. Fitzmaurice rap- 
pelle que les Gouvernements ne sont pas punissa- 
bles,, seuls les particuliers le sont. Il préférerait 
des mots comme par exemple “constitueront des 
infractions”. 

The CHAIRMAN put to the vote the whole of 
article IV, as it had been amended as a result of 
the voting on each paragraph (84th, 85th and 
87th meetings). 

Le PRÉSIDENT met aux voix l’ensemble de 
l’article IV, tel qu’il a été amendé à la suite des 
votes sur chaque paragraphe (84*me, 8.5”*e et 
87*me séances). 

Article IV as amended was adopted by 35 votes 
to tione, with 6 abstentions. 

Mr. MOROZOV (Union of Soviet Socialist Re- 
publics) said he had voted in favour of the 
adoption of article IV as amended, in view of the 
arguments which had been advanced when the 
USSR amendments had been rejected (80th meet- 
ing), namely, that cases of incitement by public 
propaganda were covered by the idea of direct 
incitement in public, and that preparatory acts 
committed in the forms envisaged in the USSR 
amendment constituted acts of genocide as de- 
fined in articles II and IV of the convention. 

Par 35 voix contre zéro, avec 6 abstention, 
l’article IV amendé est adopté. 

M. MOROZOV (Union des Républiques socia- 
listes soviétiques) déclare qu’il a voté en faveur 
de l’adoption de l’article IV amendé, en raison 
des arguments qu’on a. fait valoir lors du rejet 
des amendements de l’URSS (87éme séance) : 
premièrement, la notion d’incitation directe et 
publique s’applique également au cas d’incitation 
par propagande publique ; deuxièmement, les 
actes préparatoires accomplis dans les formes 
prévues par l’amendement de l’URSS constituent 
des actes de génocide tels qu’ils sont définis aux 
articles Ii et IV de la convention. 

Mr. MAKTOS (United States of America) said 
that he had abstained because incitement appeared 
in the list of punishable acts. 

Mr. ARANCIBIA LAzo (Chile) explained that 
he had abstained because the procedure followed 
was based on an erroneous interpretation of the 
rules of procedure; he considered that when a11 
the parts of a text had been adopted, it was un- 
necessary to vote on the whole. 

The meeting rose at 1 p.m. 

M. MAKTOS (Etats-Unis d’Amérique) déclare 
qu’il s’est abstenu parce que l’incitation figure 
dans l’énumération des actes punissables. 

M. ARANCIBIA LAZO (Chili) explique qu’il 
s’est abstenu parce que la procédure suivie est 
fondée sur une interprétation erronée du règle- 
ment intérieur ; il estime que lorsque tous les 
élkments d’un texte ont été adoptés, il est inutile 
de voter sur l’ensemble. 

La séance est Ievée à 13 heures. 

NINETY-SECOND MEETING 

Held ut the Palais de Chaillot, Paris, 
on Friday, 5 November 1948, at 10.45 a.m. 

Chairman: Mr. R. J. ALFARO (Panama). 

41. Continuation of the consideration 
of the draft convention on genocide 
LE/‘7941 : report of the Economie 
and Social Council [A/6331 

ARTICLE V 

QUATRE-VINGT-DOUZIEME SEANCE 

Tenue au Palais de Chaillot, Paris, 
le vendredi 5 novembre 1948, à 10 h. 45. 

Président: M. R. J. ALFARO (Panama). 

41. Suite’ de l’examen du projet de con- 
vention sur le génoci*de [El 7943 : 
rapport du Conseil économique et 
social [A/6331 

ARTICLE V 
The CHAIRMAN called for discussion of article 

V of the draft convention on genocide, as well as 
the amendments to that text proposed by the dele- 
gations of the USSR [AJC,6/215J&~.1], Bel- 
gium [A/C.6/217], France [A/C.6/224], the 
United Kingdom [A/C.6/236], Syria [A/C.6/ 
2461 and Sweden [A/C.6/247]. 

Le PRÉSIDENT ouvre le débat sur l’article V 
du projet de convention sur le génocide, ainsi que 
sur les amendements proposés à ce texte par les 
délégations de l’URSS [A/C.6/215/Rev.l], de la 
Belgique [A/C.6/217], de la France [A./C.6/ 
2241, du Royaume-Uni [A/C.6/236], de la Syrie 
[A/C.6/246] et de la Suède [AJC.6/247], 

301 



Mr. MOROZOV (Union of Soviet Socialist Re- 
publics) stressed the fact that the fundamental 
idea of article V of the draft convention was to 
proclaim that ail those committing .genocide, no 
matter who they were, should be punished. The 
second phrase of that article added a necessary 
clarification, but the delegation of the USSR was 
of the opinion that that clarification was not ade- 
quate and that, in accordance with the principle 
contained in article 8 of the Charter of the Inter- 
national Military Tribunal of Nürnberg it should 
be explicitly affirmed that the command of the 
law or superior orders shall not justify genocide. 
It was with that aim in view that the delegation 
of the Soviet Union had presented its amendment. 

The delegation of the USSR had omitted from 
the text of its proposa1 the second part of article 
8 of the Nürnberg Charter which referred to the 
possibility of considering command of the law or 
superior orders as grounds for reducing the pen- 
alty because it held the view that that section 
referred only to the penalty and not to the deter- 
mination of guilt. 

. Mr. KAECKENBEECPC (Belgium) stated that, 
since the amendment proposed by his delegation 
was purely a. question of drafting, he had no objec- 
tion to having that amendment considered by the 
drafting committee which would subsequently be 
set up by the Committee. 

The delegation of Belgium was in complete 
agreement with the delegation of the Soviet Union 
on the fact that a11 ,persons guilty of genocide 
shodd be punished but as the word “punished” 
appeared in various articles of the convention, it 
preferred the substitution of the words “brought 
to justice.” That was the purpose of the Belgian 
amendment. 

Mr. Kaeckenbeeck pointed out that the principle 
embodied in the USSR amendment conflicted with 
the provisions of some domestic criminal legisla- 
tions. In view of the fact that those legislations 
would have to be brou@ into harmony with the 
convention on genocide, there were serious obsta- 
cles to the insertion in the convention of the para- 
graph proposed by the Soviet Union delegation. 

Mr. FITZMAURICE (United Kingdomj ex- 
plained that his delegation proposed -a ne& text 
to replace article V because the original text did 
not seem satisfactory. 

What interpretation should be given to the 
French word gouvernants in article V ? Was it the 
head of State, as indicated in the English transla- 
tion? It was welt known that, according to certain 
Constitutions, the head of State could not be tried 
in the courts of his own country. Moreover, 
whether he had exercised absolute persona1 power 
or whether he had acted on the initiative of his 
ministers, when a head of State was guilty of geno- 
cide, it was in reality the State itself or the Gov- 
ernment which committed the crime. In those 
circumstances, it was useless to say that “heads of 
State” should be punished. The fact to be estab- 
lished was the penal responsibility of the State 
or the Government itself, or even the organs or 
the authorities of the State or Government, which 
induded heads of Siate and public officiais. 

In view of the fact that, on the one hand, pun- 
ishment in the true sense of the word was impos- 

1 
1 
1 

; 
1 
( 
, 
f 

, 

, 

, 

M. MOROZOV (Union des Républiques socia- 
listes soviétiques) souligne que l’idée fondamen- 
tale de l’article V du projet de convention est de 
proclamer que tous les auteurs de génocide, quels 
lu’ils soient, doivent être punis. Le second mem- 
bre de phrase de cet article apporte une précision 
nécessaire, mais la délégation de l’URSS estime 
que cette précision n’est pas suffisante et que, 
conformément au principe contenu dans l’article 
8 du Statut du Tribunal militaire international de 
Nuremberg, il convient de déclarer expressément 
que ni les prescriptions de la loi ni l’ordre d’une 
autorité supérieure ne peuvent justifier le géno- 
cide. C’est dans ce but que la délégation de 
l’Union soviétique a présenté son amendement, 

Si la délégation de l’URSS a omis du texte 
qu’elle propose le second membre de phrase de 
l’article 8 du Statut du Tribunal de Nuremberg, 
qui envisage la possibilité de considérer les I?res; 
criptions de la loi ou les ordres d’une autorIte 
supérieure comme un motif de diminution de la 
peine, c’est parce qu’elle estime que ce membre de 
phrase a uniquement trait à la fixation de la peine 
et non à la détermination de la culpabilité. 

M. KAECXENBEECK (Belgique) déclare que, du 
moment que l’amendement proposé par sa déléga- 
tion est d’ordre purement rédactionnel, il n’a 
aucune objection à ce que cet amendement soit 
examiné par le comité de rédaction qui sera ultc- 
rieurement nommé par la Commission. 

La délégation de la Belgique est entièrement 
d’accord avec la délégation de l’Union soviétique 
sur le fait que toutes les personnes coupables de 
génocide doivent être punies, mais comme ce 
dernier mot figure dans plusieurs articles de la 
convention, il préfère lui substituer celui de 
“recherchées”. C’est là le but de son amendement. 

M. Kaeckenbeeck fait remarquer que le prin- 
cipe contenu dans l’amendement de l’URSS se 
heurte aux dispositions de certaines législatiol1s 
pénales internes. Etant donné que lesdites législa- 
tions devront être mises en harmonie avec la con- 
vention sur le génocide, il existe de sérieuses 
difficultés à insérer dans cette convention le 
paragraphe proposé par la délégation de l’Unio 
soviétique. 

M. FITZMAURICE (Royaume-Uni) expose que 
c’est parce que le texte de l’article V ne lui 
semble pas satisfaisant que sa délégation propose 
un nouveau texte en remplacement. 

Que faut-il, en effet, entendre par le mot “~OU- 

vernants”, qui figure à l’article V? Est-ce le chef 
de l’Etat, comme le laisse ,entendre la traductiorl 
anglaise? On sait que, suivant certaines Constitu- 
tions, le chef de I’Etat ne peut être traduit devant 
les tribunaux de son pays. D’autre part, qu’il ait 
exercé un pouvoir personnel absolu ou qu’il ait agi 
sur l’initiative de ses ministres, lorsqu’un chef 
d’Etat est coupable de génocide, c’est, en réalité, 
YEtat lui-même ou le gouvernement qui commef: 
le crime. Dans ces conditions, il ne sert j rien de 
dire que les “gouvernants” seront punis. Ce 
qu’il faut retenir, c’est la responsabilité pénale de 
1’Etat ,ou du gouvernement lui-même ou encore 
des organes OLI autorités de l’Etat ou du gouver- 
nement, ce qui comprend les chefs d’Etai: et les 
fonctionnaires. 

Etant donné, d’une part, que l’on ne peut 
concevoir de punition, au vrai sens du mot, pour 

302 



Mr. TARA~I (Syria) stresscd thc fact that hi: 
d&gation had proposed an nmcndment to article 
v of the convention for purposes of clarification, 

Tlle words ‘%eads of Stntc” which appeared in 
t[lat article referred to legaI Governnlents whicli 
were in power by the will of the 1W~plC, in nccnrd- 
ance with a Constitution. Nevctrtheless lcgal tticnry 
and precedent, particularly in I:rrtncr, nlso recog- 
nized two other catcgarics of hends of Statr: 
normal de facto heads of Stntc, tlmt was, thosa 
who were in powcr hecause of the l~rcaktlnwt~ of 
authority, and dc (acfo heatls of Statc who werr 
usurpers, that was, who lrüd scizcd pnwcr without 
any right. 

Citing the French ordinance of 9 Attgust 1944 
which had nullifed the acts of thc Vichy govern- 
ment, described as n dc fc~to usurping gnvern- 
ment, Mr, Tarazi statcd thnt in reality de fmto 
heads of government ~110 wpre usurpers wcre in- 
dividuals who had seizcd powcr illcgally. III vies 
of the fact that they would net IIe Ittcludcct in the 
category of “private indivitluats’” cnvisnged in arti- 
cle V-since that caéegory rcfecrcrl only to privntc 
individuals who werc’ ncither oficinls nor heatls 
of State-the delcgatirrn nf Syria prnposed that 
the list given in article V should bc cxtended to 
indude do jacta hcads of St:ttc anct pcrsons having 
usurped authority. T~E article tvould thcn rend : 

“‘Ibse committing genacide or any of the othcr 
acts enumerated in article V shall lrc punished, 
whethr they arc lleacls of Statr, public officiais, 
persans bving usurped autlrarity or private incli- 
viduals,” 

In explhing thc position of bis clelegation with 
regard to art& V of the convention, Mr. ~ETREN 

(Sweden) pointed out that, since the question of 
the competent authority in matters of gcmcide 
had not yet been settlcd three possibifitics skoutd 
be considered : prasecu&n brfore national courts 
of the State to whictl persons nccuse~ of genocide 
were sullject ; prosecution beforc the .nationaI 
courts Of anothcr Statc ; nnd prosccl,tticîn lîcforc 
a? international criminal court. The Swcdish Con.. 
stltution provided that thc king could nat be 
brought to trial. Thcrcforc, in tlle hypotlletical 
w  ht the king wcre accused of genocidc, hc 
could net be brought to trial bcforc the Swcclistl 
courts or before tllc national courts of artothrr 
countrY+ Consideration might lse given to the ques- 

tion of whether, in case the convention establishecl 
an international criminal court an agrcement 
should be reached, in the cornmon’intcrest, to make 
m”narchs subject to tbat juristliction, A decision 
Of Gat kind Would, however, require revision of 

k’.ï Etals f’)ll 1~3 gOt~~r~r~%%wnt~, et, d’autre part, 

qu’il n’est Pas possible de les tra&& devant le«rs 
wwes trihtws, il convient de prévoir que les 
acks dl? $ROCidf2 Constitrtcront une violation de 
la convention lorsqu’ils seront commis par des 
Etats 011 tleS gouvernements, ou en leur nom. 
.b la 5Ork, en invoquant la violation d’une con- 
U!nthl internationale, on pourra traduire les 
Et:ltS 
tien 

OU 1~ gou\‘erncments (levant une juridic- 

irlternati«rialc qui ne prononcera pas de 
peine, maki qui ordonnera la cessation de ces 
iLctPs. If. Fitzmaurice rappelle à ce sujet que sa 
déI<gation a proposé un amendement [n/C.6/ 
~.Y~/COW.~] L l’article VII de la convention, pré- 
VOTRE la compc!tence en la matière de la Cour 
internationale de Justice. 

M. TAWI (Syrie) souligne que c’est dans un 
but de précision que sa délégation a proposé un 
:imendcment à l’article V de la convention. 

ti mot “gouvernants”, qui figure au dit ar- 
ticle, vise en effet Ics gouvernants Kgaux, issus 
:Se la volonti: du peuple, conformément & la Cons- 
titution. Cependant la doctrine et la jurisprudcncc, 
p%rticuliGrcment celles de la France, connaissent 
galcment deux autres catégories de gouvernants : 
es gouvernants de fait normaux, c’est-à-dire 
ceus qui sont au pouvoir par suite de la ca- 
rence de l’autoritçi, et les gouvernants de fait 
.Isurpateurs, c’est-a-dire ceux qui, sans aucun 
:Et, SC sont emparés du pouvoir. 

Citant l’ordonnance française du 9 août 1944 
lui a nnnulC les actes accomplis par lc gouverne- 
nrnt de Vichy, qualifié de gouvernement de fait 
.Isttrpateur, M. Tarazi déclare qu’en realité les 
;ouvcrnants de fait usurpateurs sont des par- 
.iculiers qui ont usurpé l’autorité. Etant donnC 
lu’& ne rcntreraicnt pas dans la catégorie “par- 
Iculiers” pr&uc par l’article V - cette catégorie 
te ViSi~Ilt que les particuliers qui ne sont ni 
~trnctinrmaircs ni gouvernants - la dél&ation de 
a Syrie propose d’ajouter à 1’Enumération de 
‘article V Ics gouvernants de fait et tes personnes 
~yimt uSurpE ]‘nutoritC. L’article SP lirait alors : 

“Les aiitrurs des actes Crjumérés k l’article IV 
;(Iront punis, qu’ils soient des gouvernants, des 
puvrrnants dc fait, des fonctionnaires, des per- 
~onncs ayant usurpé l’autorité ou des particu- 
iers,” 

M. PETREN (Suède), exposant la position de sa 
l&l@ation à l’cgard de l’article V de la convqn- 
ion, fait remarquer que la question de la jundlc- 
ion compftcnte en matière de génocide n’ayant 
bas encore été tranchée, il convient d’envisager 
rois hypothèses : les poursuites devant les tri- 
bunaux nationaux de 1’Etat auquel appartiennent 
:‘s personnes mxsées de gCnocide, les poursuites 
[cvant tes trihunattx nationaux d’un autre Etat 
,t 1cS poursuites devant un tribunal pénal 
r~ternationat, La Constitution suédoise prévoit 
lue le mi nc pourra pas être traduit en justice. 
& co&quent, 3t.1 cas hypothétique où le roi 
rrnit: accusé de génocide, il ne pourrait être 
raduit ni devant les tribunaux suédois, ni devant 
2s tri~)ullaux nationaux d’un autre pays. On 
,ourrait cx&ner la question de savoir si, au cas 
,& la convention établirait une juridiction pénale 
oternationale, on ne devrait pas, dans l’@rét 
;&î&al, conse& à soumettre les monarques à 
ctte juridiction; mais une décision de ce genre 

303 



the Swedish constitution and the delegation of 
Sweden was not in a position to promise that such 
a change would be made in its Constitution. 

Under those conditions, the Swedish delegation 
could not accept article V of the convention unless 
the words “heads of State” were deleted. It had 
proposed the foïlowing text : 

“Those committing genocide or any of the other 
acts enumerated in article V shall be punished, 
whether they are public officiais or private indi- 
viduals.” 

It would, however, be willing to vote in favour 
of the Ad Hoc Committee text if the words “heads 
of State” were replaced by an expression which 
would include members of the Government but 
would exclude heads of State who enjoyed con- 
stitntional immunity. 

Mr. Petren wished to draw the attention of the 
Committee to the question of the responsibility of 
legislators. Would those who voted in favour of 
a law organizing genocide be held responsible as 
well as those who had voted the necessary appro- 
priations for the crime to be committed ? In that 
field, should legislative immunity be considered ? 
The Swedish delegation was of the opinion that 
the question had not been sufficiently studied, and 
that it was therefore preferable to omit heads of 
State from the list contained in article V. 

The United Kingdom amendment raised a fur- 
ther question, tliat of the provision for criminal 
sanctions. Individuals who had personally planned 
or executed the crime would obviously be pun- 
ished in accordance with the penalties provided by 
the criminal law. In the case of the State or the 
Government, however, the only question could be 
that of ordering them to pay reparations to the 
victims. The Swedish delegation was prepared to 
discuss the inclusion in the convention of a clause 
regarding the reparations to be paid to victims by 
a State of which the heads had committed geno- 
cide, but it wished to point out that, strictly speak- 
ing, a criminal penalty would not be involved. 

For those reasons and also because the Swedish 
criminal code did not recognize the idea of the 
penal responsibility of legal persons, the Swedish 
delegation was of the opinion that it was inappro- 
priate to refer to the penal responsibility of Statez 
and Governments and that article V should pro- 
vide only for the punishment of individuals. 

Sardar BAHADUR ICI-IAN (Pakistan) recalled 
that, in most cases, genocicle was committed bg 
heads of State or with their complicity and thai 
the principle objective was to avoid a recurrence 
of crimes as barbarous as those of which receni 
history had furnished ‘SO many examples. It waz 
only by organizing the prevention of genocide ant 
providing for the punishment of those who werf 
guilty of it, no matter what their officia1 or socia‘ 
position might be, that that objective would bt 
realized. 

The Pakistan delegation was of the opinion thai 
article V should be drafted in as broad terms a: 
possible. Accordingly, it would vote for an) 
amendment which would enlarge the scope of tha 
article. Nevertheless, in order to avoid the inclu 
sion in the convention of provisions which con 
flicted with certain constitutional principles anc 
in order to make the convention acceptable to thl 
greatest possible number of States, the delegatiot 
of Pakistan would not oppose the proposa1 of thl 

:xigerait une modification de la Constitution 
suédoise et la délégation de la Suède n’est pas en 
nesure de promettre qu’un tel changement serait 
Lpporté à sa Constitution. 

Dans ces conditions, la délégation suédoise ne 
leurrait accepter l’article V de la convention que 
;i l’on en supprimait les mots “des gouvernants”. 
Elle a proposé le texte suivant: 

“Les auteurs des actes énumérés à l’article IV 
seront punis, qu’ils soient des fonctionnaires pu- 
llics ou des particuliers.” 

Elle serait cependant disposée à voter en ff- 
Jeur du texte du Comité spécial, si l’on pouvait 
:rouver, à la place du mot “gouvernants”, une 
:xprcssion qui comprendrait les membres du 
Touvernement mais exclurait les chefs d’État 
bénéficiant d’lne immunité constitutionnelle. 

M. Petren tient à attirer l’attention de la Com- 
nission sur la question de la responsabilité des 
sarlementaires. Tiendra-t-on responsables ceux 
lui auraient voté en faveur d’une loi organisant 
le génocide, ainsi que ceux qui auraient voté les 
crédits nécessaires pour commettre le crime? 
Faudra-t-il, dans ce domaine, tenir compte de 
l’immunité parlementaire? La délégation de la 
Suède est d’avis que la question n’a pas été 
suffisamment étudiée et qu’il est donc préférabIc 
d’omettre les gouvernants de l’énumération con- 
tenue dans l’article V. 

L’amendement du Royaume-Uni pose uw autre 
question, celle des sanctions P&ales à prévoir. 
Les individus qui auraient personnellement conçu 
ou exécuté le crime seront évidemment punis des 
peines prévues par le code pénal. Mais, en ce 
qui concerne I’Etat ou le gouvernement, il 11’2 
saurait être question que de les condamner 5 
payer des réparations aux victimes. La délégation 
suédoise est prête à discuter l’insertion dans la 
convention d’une clause relative aux rfpara- 
tions à payer aux victimes par 1’Etat dont les 
gouvernants ont commis le génocide, mais elle 
fait remarquer qu’il ne s’agirait 
ment parler, d’une peine. 

pas, à prûpre- 

Pour ces raisons, et aussi parce que le code 
pénal suédois ignore la notion de la responsabilité 
pénale des personnes morales, la délégation de la 
Suède est d’avis qu’il ne convient pas de parler 
de la responsabilité pénale des Etats et des gott- 
vernements et qu’il ne faut prévoir à l’article V 
que la punition des individus. 

Sardar BAIIADUR KIIAN (Pakistan) rappelle 
que, dans la plupart des cas, le génocide est 
commis par des gouvernants ou avec leur compli- 
cité et que l’objectif principal que l’on doit se 
fixer est d’empêcher le renouvellement de crimes 
aussi atroces que ceux dont l’histoire récente ~1 
donné tant d’exemples. Ce n’est qu’en organisant 
la lutte préventive contre le génocide et en pré- 
voyant la punition de ceux qui en sont coupables, 
quelle que soit leur situation officielle ou sociale, 
que l’on atteindra un tel objectif, 

La délégation du Pakistan est d’avis que l’ar- 
ticle V devrait être rédigé en termes aussi larges 
que possible. C’est pourquoi elle votera en fa- 
veur de tout amendement qui étendrait la portée 
de cet article. Toutefois, afin d’éviter d’inclure 
dans la convention des dispositions se heurtant 3. 
certains principes constitutionnels, et afin de 
rendre la convention acceptable pour le plus grancl 
nombre possible d’Etats, la délégation du P&is- 
tan ne s’opposera pas à la proposition de la 



Swedish’ delegation to delete “heads of State” 
from the list of persons who were punishable 
under the terms of article V. It pointed out, how- 
ever, that there was no reason to exclude from the 
list heads of State who did not enjoy the same 
immunity as certain monarchs. 

The representative of Pakistan noted a slight 
difference between the English and French texts 
of article V. The French expression gouvernants 
included ministers or members of the Government 
as well as heads of State, while the English ex- 
pression %eads of State” was less explicit. In one 
way or another it should be specified that min- 
isters or members of the Government were in- 
cluded in the category of “public officiais.” Since 
the question involved was purely one of drafting, 
the drafting committee, which would undoubtedly 
be set up by the Committee, could decide the 
matter. 

Mr. MOROZO~ (Union of Soviet Social& Re- 
publics) pointed out the difficulty of simultaneous 

M. MOROZOV (Union des Républiques socia- 

discussion of a11 the amendments submitted in 
listes soviétiques), signalant les difficultés que 

connexion with article V of the convention and 
présente la discussion simultanée de tous les 
amendements proposés à l’article V de la con- 

suggested that each of the amendments should be 
discussed separately. 

vention, suggère que le débat porte séparément 
sur chacun des amendements présentés. 

Mr. SPIROPOULOS (Greece) and Mr. MAKTOS 
(United States of America) supported that sug- 
gestion. 

M. SPIROPOULOS (Grèce) et M. MAKTOS 
(‘Etats-Unis d’Amérique) appuient cette sugges- 
tion. 

Mr. DIGNAM (Australia) opposed that sugges- 
tion, and pointed out that the various amendments 
had several points in common and that repetition 
would be avoided if they were examined together. 

M. DIGNAM (Australie) s’y oppose, au con- 
traire, en faisant remarquer que les divers amen- 
dements ont plusieurs points communs et que l’on 
éviterait des répétitions si on les examinait simul- 
tanément. 

The CHAIRMAN decided that, in order to avoid 
confusion in the discussion, each amendment 
would be taken up separately. 

He asked Che Committee to consider the amend- 
ment proposed by the USSR delegation [A/C.6/ 
215/Xev. i]. 

Mr. &AUMONT (France) stressed the diffi- 
culty of expressing a view regarding the Soviet 
Union amendment proposing the addition of a 
second paragraph to article V, before the Com- 
mittee had adopted the first paragraph of that 
article and the amendments thereto. As a matter 
of fact, the vote on the USSR amendment might 
depend to a great extent on the provisions of the 
first paragraph of article V. 

The text proposed by the Soviet Union delega- 
tion was needed to complete the provisions which 
the French delegation would bave liked to see in- 
cluded in the definition of genocide. The principle 
on which it was based appeared in the Nürnberg 
Charter, which in that regard constituted a valu- 
able precedent. In spite of that precedent, how- 
ever, such a principle should be affirmed in the 
convention. The French delegation would there- 
fore vote for the USSR amendment. 

Mr. PÉREZ FEROZO (Venezuela) recalled that 
his delegation had opposed the adoption of the 
Soviet Union amendment in the Ad Hoc Commit- 
tee.l Its opinion of that amendment had not altered 
and it would oppose it again for the same reasons, 

‘Sec Officia1 Records of the Economie and Social 
Council, third year, seventh session, supplement No. 6, 
page 9. 

délégation de la Suède de supprimer les gouver- 
nants de l’énumération des personnes punissables 
aux termes de l’article V. Elle fait cependant 
remarquer qu’il n’y a aucune raison pour exclure 
de cette énumération les gouvernants qui ne 
jouissent pas de la même immunité que certains 
monarques. 

Le représentant du Pakistan signale une cer- 
taine différence entre les textes anglais et fran- 
çais de I’article V. L’expression française 
“gouvernants” comprend les ministres ou les 
membres du gouvernement aussi bien que les 
chefs d’Etat, tandis que l’expression anglaise 
l~acis of States est moins explicite. On devrait 
donc préciser, d’une façon ou d’une autre, que les 
ministres ou les membres du gouvernement 
entrent dans la catégorie des “fonctionnaires”. 
Il s’agit là d’une question d’ordre purement 
rédactionnel et le comité de rédaction qui sera 
sans doute créé par la Commission pourrait s’en 
charger. 

Le PRÉSIDENT décide que, pour éviter toute 
confusion dans le débat, la discussion portera sur 
chaque amendement séparément. 

11 invite la Commission à se prononcer sur 
l’ame;dement proposé par la Délégation de 
l’URSS [A/C.6/215/Re~.I]. 

M. CHAUMONT (France) soulign,e combien il 
est difficile de se prononcer sur l’amendement 
de la délégation de l’Union soviétique, qui tend 
à ajouter un second paragraphe & l’article V, 
avant d’avoir voté sur le premier paragraphe de 
cet article et les amendements qui le concernent. 
Le vote sur l’amendement de l’URSS pourraif, 
en effet, dépendre en grande partie des disposl- 
tions du premier paragraphe de l’article V. 

Le texte proposé par l’Union soviétique est 
nécessaire pour compléter des dispositions que la 
délégation française aurait voulu voir figurer dans 
la définition même du génocide. Le principe dont 
il s’inspire figure déjà dans le Statut du Tribunal 
de Nuremberg qui constitue, à ce titre, un précé- 
dent précieux, mais il importe, malgré l’existence 
de ce précédent, d’énoncer un tel principe dans 
la convention, La délégation française votera 
donc en faveur de l’amendement de l’I.JRSS. 

M. P&RE~ PEROZO (Venezuela) rappelle que sa 
délégation s’était opposée, au Comité spCcia1, à 
l’adoption de l’amendement de l’Union sovié- 
tique* ; elle n’a pas changé d’avis sur la question 
et elle s’y opposera de nouveau pour les mêmes 

1 Voir les Procès-verbaux officiels du Conseil éco- 
w&que et social, troisième année, septième session, 
supplément no 6, page 9. 

305 



some of which were theoretical and others prac- 
tical. 

According to the definition of genocide given 
in article II of the convention, intent formed the 
chief element of the crime. By excluding that ele- 
ment the USSR amendment completely altered 
tic nature of genocide, Mr. Pérez Perozo gave 
as an example a group of soldiers, ordered bu 
an officer to open fire on a political group and 
who did SO in the belief that they were suppress- 
ing disturbances, whereas the officer had really 
intended the destruction of the group. Mr. Pérez 
Perozo emphasized that the adoption of the 
amendment in question would lead to the punish- 
ment of those soldiers whatever action they took: 
if they obeyed the order, they would have com- 
mitted genocide and if they did not obey it, they 
would be guilty of insubordination. 

The delegation of Venezuela could not accept 
that amendment because it contravened funda- 
mental principles of Venezuelan penal law, which 
prohibited punishment for action in accordance 
with superior orders and laid down that the giver 
of the illegal order was solely responsible, unless 
the executor of the order had exceeded his in- 
structions. The amendment was also contrary to 
certain provisions of the Venezuelan Constitu- 
tio:,. which laid down that the army was a non- 
pohtlcal body, bouncl to unquestioning obedience. 
Adoption of the Soviet Union. amenclment would 
tend to encourage indiscipline by permitting sol- 
diers to discuss orders received. Mr. Pérez Perozo 
emphasized in that connexion that the provisions 
of that amendment were a11 the more dangerous 
in that it had been decided to include political 
groups among those protected by the convention. 

The representatives of the USSR and France 
had pointed out that the proposed amendment 
figured in the Nürnberg Charter. It should, how- 
ever, not be forgotten that the International Mili- 
tary Tribunal had been set up at a special mo- 
ment in order to judge special crimes: it was a 
question of acts committed by the “major war 
criminals of the European Axis.” Genocide was 
committed in time of peace as well as in time 
of war and the convention should mainly legis- 
late for crimes committed in time of peace. By 
requesting the Economie and Social Council to 
draft a convention on genocide [resolution 96 1] 
and the International Law Commission to formu- 
late the principles consecrated by the Nürnberg 
Charter and to clraw up a draft code applicable 
to crimes against peace and security [resolz&on 
9.5 I], the General Assembly had stressed ,the dif- 
ference between genocide and the crimes the 
Niirnberg Tribunal had been set up to suppress. 

La délégation du Venezuela ne peut accepter 
cet amendement parce qu’il heurte des principes 
fondamentaux de sa législation pénale qui prhvoit 
que nul ne peut être puni pour avoir agi COll- 
formément à un o,rdre reçu et que seul sera 
responsable celui qui a donné l’ordre illégal, à 
moins que l’exécutant n’ait dépassé ses instruc- 
tions. Cet amendement heurte également certaines 
dispositions constitutionnelles du Venezuela, sui- 
vant lesquelles l’armée est un corps non politi@e 
tenu à l’obéissance sans discussion. L’adoption 
de l’amendement de l’Union soviétique cons- 
tituerait, en quelque sorte, un encouragement g 
l’indiscipline, puisqu’il permettrait aux soldats de 
discuter les ordres reçus. M. Pérez Pcrozo 
souligne, 2 ce propos, qne les dispositions de cet 
amendement sont d’autant plus dangereuses C~C 

l’on a décidé d’inclure les groupes politiques 
parmi les groupes protégés par la convention, 

Les représentants de l’URSS et de la T-rance 
mt invoqué le fait que le principe de l’amende- 
nent proposé figure clans le Statut du Tribunal 
le Nuremberg. Il ne faut ccpenclant pas oublier 
lue le Tribunal militaire international de Nurem- 
)erg a été créé à un moment spécial, pour juger 
les crimes spéciaux : il s’agissait d’actes conlnlis 
?ar les “grands criminels de gtrerre des pays 
:uropéens de 1’Axe”. Le gtnocide se commet CII 
‘emps de paix comme en temps de guerre cl: la 
:onvention doit légiférer principalement pcmr les 

:rimes commis en temps de paix. L’Asseu&lk 
:énérale a tenu à souligner la différence entre le 
:énocide et les crimes pour la répression desrl~ls 
e Tribunal de Nuremberg avait étC CI-l2 
orsqu’elle a chargé le Conseil économique et social 
i’élaborer une convention sur le génociclc (rcstl- 
ution 96 (1)) et la Commission du droit. inter- 
lational de formuler les principes consacrés par le -. _ _- 

C 

r 

C 

; 

C 

1 

I 

C 

I 

f 

1 

; 
1 
c L 

I 

On a number of occasions certain delegations 
had warned the Committee against the danger of 
including in the convention any provisions which 
might form an obstacle to its ratification. The 
delegation of Venezuela regarded the amend- 
ment proposed by the delegation of the Soviet 
Union as precisely such a provision. 

5tatut de Nuremberg et d’élaborer un projet de 
code relatif aux crimes contre la paix et la 
sécurité (résolution 95 (1) ), 

Certaines délégations ont, à plusieurs reprises, 
mis la Commission en garde contre le danger 
d’inclure dans la convention des dispositions qui 
feraient obstacle à sa ratification. La délégation 
du Venezuela estime que l’amendement proposC 
par la délégation de l’Union soviétique constitue 
précisément l.‘une de ces dispositions, 

I 

Pour toutes ces raisons la délégation du 
Venezuela votera contre cet amendement. 

M. SPIROPOULOS (Grèce) fait remarquer 
est fort possible qu’en obéissant à ~ln ordre, 
personne commette «II acte de génocide, 
que l’élément intentionnel - qui doit 

For a11 those reasons the Venezuelan clelega- 
tion would vote against the amendment. 

Mr. SPIROPOULOS (Greece) observed that an 
individual might well commit an act of genocide 
by complying with an order! but the element oj 
intent, which was an essentlal element of geno- 

raisons, certaines d’ordre théorique, d’autres 
d’ordres Dratique. 

La d&niti& du génocide donnée à l’article II 
de la convention fait de l’intention l’élément 
principal du crime. En supprimant cet élément, 
l’amendement de l’URSS modifie complètement la 
nature du génocide. Citant l’exemple de soldats 
auxquels un officier donne l’ordre de tirer sur 
un groupe politique et qui le font en croyant 
réprimer des désordres, alors que l’officier avait 
l’intention détruire ce groupe, M. Pérez Perozo 
souligne que l’adoption de l’amendement en ques- 
tion conduirait à faire punir ces soldats Woi 
qu’ils fassent: s’ils obéissaient, parce qu’ils au- 
raient commis un acte de génocide, et s’ils 
n’obéissaient pas, parce qu’ils se seraient rendus 
coupables de désobéissance à l’égard de l’autorit& 
militaire. 



cide, would be lacking. In such a case it could 
net be said that the individual concerned had 
committed genocide. 

The principle contained in the USSR amend- 
ment was not recognized by a11 domestic legisla- 
tions. The land warfare code of the United States 
of America did not recognize it. It was only the 
new code of 1944 which had introduced it. It 
was true that the principle figured in article 8 
of the Nürnberg Charter, which had been set up 
to try crimes against peace, war crimes and 
crimes against liumanity, of which genocide was 
one, but there were grounds for observing thal- 
the Tribunal had given a restrictive interpretation 
to the provisions of that article. It was clear froni 
a large number of decisions that the Tribunal, 
in order to decide whether or not the accusecl 
was responsible for the crimes of which he was 
accused, had attempted to determine whether or 
not he had full freedom of action, in other words, 
whether he had had any possibility of disobeying 
the orders he had received. 

The delegation of Greece considered it pref- 
erable not to adopt the Soviet Union amendment 
and to leave the judge free to decide, in each 
individual case, whether the element of intention 
was present or not. 

Mr. MAKTOS (United States of America) op- 
posed the adoption of the USSR amendment and 
thought it would be more satisfactory to leave 
the judge free to pronounce judgment in each 
individual case, taking the special circumstances 
into account, He pointed out that the fact that 
the convention lacked provisions of the kind pro- 
posed by that amendment would not prevent the 
judge from establishing the guilt of an individual 
who had carried out an order, provided the ele- 
ment of intent were present. On the other hand, 
the introduction of SUC~ provisions into article 
V of the convention would restrict the judge’s 
freedom of action and might compel him to con- 
demn innocent parties. There were therefore 
grounds for doubt as to whether it ‘was wise to 
include in the Convention SO inflexible a clause 
as the one proposed by the Soviet Union delega- 
tion or whether it would not be more advisable 
first to permit international law to develop in the 
matter. He recalled that the Commission on In- 
ternational Law would be studying that question. 

The delegation of the United States was in 
favour of the second solution, since it feared 
that adoption of the USSR amendment woulcl 
result in confronting a soldier with the difficult 
choice between obeying the order and being shot 
later for committing an act of genocide or else 
refusing and being shot immediately for insubor- 
dination. 

Mr. RAAFAT (Egypt) supported the Soviet 
Union amendment on the p-round that the con- 
vention should take precede;e over national legis- 
lation, where the latter contained incitement to 
genocide. It was also important that the principle 
of that amendment should figure in a11 penal 
codes which had not yet given it full recognition. 

Mr, PETREN (Sweden), while appreciating the 
motives underlying the USSR amendment, said 
that he would nevertheless vote against it for the 
same reasons as the representatives of Belgium, 
Venezuela, Greece and the United States. 

ment exister pour qu’il y ait génocide - fasse dé- ,+’ 
faut. On ne saurait, dans ce cas, dire que cette 
personne est coupable de génocide. 

Le principe centew dans l’amendement de 
l’URSS n’est pas reconnu par toutes les législa- 
tions internes. Le code de la guerre terrestre des ; 
Etats-Unis d’Amérique ne le connaît pas. Ce n’est 
que le nouveau code de 1944 qui l’a introduit. Il 
est vrai que ce principe figure à l’article 8 du 
Statut du Tribunal de Nuremberg - qui fut créé 
pour juger les crimes contre la paix, les crimes 
de guerre et les crimes contre l’humanité, dont 
le génocide - mais il y a lieu de noter que le 
Tribunal a interprété de façon restrictive les dis- 
positions de cet article, II résulte, en effet, de 
nombreuses décisions du Tribunal de Nuremberg 
que, pour décider si un inculpé était ou non 
responsable des crimes dont il était accusé! le 
Tribunal a recherché s’il avait eu ou non le Ilbre 
choix de ses actes, en d’autres termes s’il avait 
eu la possibilité de ne pas obéir aux ordres qu’il 
avait reçus. 

La délégation de la Grèce est d’avis qu’il vaut 
mieux ne pas adopter l’amendement de l’Union 
soviétique et laisser le juge libre de décider lui- 1 
même! dans chaque cas particulier, si l’élément 
intentIonne existe ou non. 

M. MAKTOS (Etats-Unis d’Amérique) s’oppose ;, 
à l’adoption de l’amendement de l’URSS, car il I 
estime qu’il est préférable de laisser le juge libre f 
de statuer dans chaque cas, en tenant compte des 1 
circonstances particulières, Il fait remarquer que 
l’absence, dans la convention, de dispositions du 
genre de celles que propose cet amendement 
n’empêcherait pas le juge de retenir la culpabilité 
de celui qui aurait exécuté un ordre, si 1’Clément ,:;” ; “1;’ 
intentionnel existait, Au contraire, l’introduction,” -3 p ; 
de ces dispositions dans l’article V de la conven-( P 
tion lierait le juge et pourrait l’obliger à con-*,~~!,~~~‘~ 
damner des innocents, Il y a donc lieu de se de- 
mander s’il convient de faire figurer dans la 
convention une clause aussi rigide que celle que 
propose la délégation de l’union soviétique ou 
s’il n’est pas préférable de laisser auparavant le 
droit international se développer en cette matière. 
M. Maktos rappelle que la Commission du droit 
international aura à étudier tout l’ensemble des 
principes de Nuremberg, 

Pour sa part, la délégation des Etats-Unis se 
prononce en faveur de la deuxième solution, car 
elle craint que l’adoption de l’amendement de 
l’URSS n’aboutisse à placer un soldat devant le 
dilemme suivant: OLI obéir à un ordre et être 
fusillé ultérieurement pour avoir commis un acte 
de génocide, ou ne pas obéir à cet ordre et être 
fusillé immédiatement pour désobéissance à ses 
supérieurs. 

M. RAAPAT (Egypte) appuie l’amendement de 
l’Union soviétique, parce qu’il considère que la 
convention doit primer la loi nationale, quand 
celle-ci incite au génocide, et parce qu’il importe 
de faire figurer le principe de cet amendement 
dans toutes les législations pénales qui ne l’ont 
pas encore pleinement reconnu. 

M. PETREN (S«ède), tout en comprenant les 
motifs qui ont poussé la délégation de l’URSS à 
présenter son amendement, votera cependant 
contre cet amendement pour les motifs expos&s 
par les représentants de la Belgique, du Vene- 
zuela, de la Grèce et des Etats-Unis. 



Mr. DIHIGO (Cuba) thought that the principle 
expressed in the Soviet Union amendment was 
too rigid ; in certain cases it would result in in- 
justices and would place those in subordinate 
positions in the dilemma to which reference had 
been made. 

Like the representative of the United States, 
he thought. the rejection of the amenclment would 
in no way prejudice the judges’ ruling on specific 
cases ; it would be quite possible for the judge to 
recognize whether or not the accused was guilty, 
even if he had acted under superior orders. 

Mr. MESSINA (Dominican Republic) said that 
he was unable to vote in favour of the USSR 
amendment, since, in the first place, its contents 
were incompatible with the provisions of the 
Constitution of his country and, in the second 
place, it would lead to injustices, encourage in- 
subordination and generate disorder. 

Mr. ZOUREIC (Czechoslovakia) said that bis 
Government had regarded the text of article V 
in the Ad Hoc Committee’s text as inadequate, 
since it did not provide sufficient guarantees 
against genocide. It should be amplified by the 
inclusion of an explicit clause on the lines of the 
one proposed by the delegation of the Soviet 
Union. 

The principle embodied in that amendment had 
already been recognized by the Nürnberg Char- 
ter. A number of delegations maintained that the 
convention on genocide did not need to seek a 
mode1 in that Charter. But, since the General 
Assembly’s resolutions had designated genocide 
as an international crime, the Nürnberg Charter, 
as the only text in which the criminal acts con- 
stituting genocide had been declared international 
crimes, was its only possible model. For that 
reason the Czechoslovak delegation could not ap- 
prove article V of the draft convention, which 
would be a retrogade step on a fundamental point 
of international penal law by comparison with its 
recent achievements. 

If those who executed the crime were permitted 
to invoke command of the law or superior orders, 
most offenders would evade. punishment since in 
the majority of cases genocide was committecl 
with the participation of the State. Such a result 
would be contrary to the principles of morality 
and justice. It was therefore essential to adopt 
the USSR amendment, which, by precluding a11 
attempts at self-vindication by reference to the 
law or to orders received, would give article V 
a powerful psychological effect and would make 
an important contribution to the struggle to pre- 
vent the crime. 

In Mr. Zourek’s view, the basic arguments ad- 
duced against the amendment were unconvincing 
and if they were to be taken into account, might 
equally well lead to the rejection of the conven- 
tion’on genocide as a whole. In fact, a11 considera- 
tions on the question of intent were entirely a 
matter for the decision of the judge who was 
called ‘on to determine the responsibility of the 
accused and award the approptiate penalty. 

With regard to the objection raised on the 
score of domestic legislation of countries which 
did not admit responsibility in the case of com- 
pliante with the law or superior orders, the 
Czechoslovak representative held that domestic 
legislation should not be allowed to infringe inter- 

M. DIHIGO (Cuba) estim,e trop rigide le prin- 
cipe contenu dans l’amendement de l’Union sovié- 
tique, qui, dans certains cas, aboutirait à des 
injustices et poserait à la conscience des SU- 
balternes le dilemme auquel il a été fait allusion. 

Comme le représentant des Etats-Unis, il pense 
que le rejet de cet amendement ne préjtigeralt 
nullement la solution des cas d’espèce par les 
juges, qui pourront parfaitement reconnaître un 
accusé coupable, même s’il a agi sur ordre de son 
supérieur hiérarchique. 

M. MESSINA (République Dominicaine) dé- 
clare ne pas pouvoir voter en faveur de l’amende- 
ment de l’URSS, parce que, d’une part, son 
contenu est incompatible avec les dispositions de 
la Constitution de son pays, et que, d’autre part, 
il conduirait à des injustices, inciterait ci la 
désobéissance et serait générateur de désordre. 

M. ZOUREK (Tchécoslovaquie) expose que 
son Gouvernement a jugé insuffisant le texte de 
l’article V proposé par le Comité spécial, parce 
qu’il n’assure pas efficacement la prévention du 
génocide. Il faut donc le compléter par une clause 
expresse du genre de celle que propose la déléga- 
tion de l’Union soviétique, 

Le principe inclus dans cet amendement a déjà 
été reconnu par le Statut du Tribunal de Nurem- 
berg. Certaines délégations soutiennent q~~e 1~ 
convention sur le génocide n’a pas à se réferer a 
ce Statut. Mais si, dans ses résolutions, l’Assem- 
blée générale a qualifié le génocide de crime inter- 
national, elle n’a pu, ce faisant, se référer qu’à 
ce Statut, seul texte où les actes criminels cons- 
titutifs du génocide aient été proclamés crime 
international. C’est pourquoi la délégation tchéco- 
slovaque ne peut approuver l’article V du projet 
de convention, qui marquerait une régression, sur 
un point fondamental, du droit pénal interna- 
tional par rapport à ses conquêtes récentes. 

Si l’on permettait aux exécutants du crime d’in- 
voquer l’ordre de la loi ou le commandement des 
supérieurs, la plupart d’entre eux échapperaient 
au châtiment puisque, dans la majorité des cas, 
le génocide est commis avec la participation de i 
1’Etat. Ce serait là un résultat contraire aux !/- 
principes de la morale et de la justice. Il iniporte 4 -j\ 
donc d’adopter l’amendement de l’URSS qui,$.... .! 
écartant d’office toute justification sous le couvert ’ 

f de la loi et du commandement, conférera à l’ar- i 
ticle V un puissant effet psychologique et con- 1 
tribuera dans une très grande mesure à la lutte ! 
préventive contre le crime. \ 

Pour M. Zourek, les arguments de fond pré- 
sentés contre cet amendement ne sont pas con- 
vaincants et, si l’on devait en tenir compte, ils 
conduiraient tout aussi bien à rejeter l’ensemble 
de la convention sur le génocide. En réalité, 
toutes ces considérations relatives à l’intention 
relèvent de la seule appréciation du juge chargé 
de peser la responsabilité de l’accusé et de lui 
appliquer la peine qu’il mkrite. 

En ce qui concerne l’objection tirée du droit /! 
interne des pays qui n’admettent pas la responsa- 1’ 
bilité en cas d’obéissance à la loi ou aux SLIP&- ,\*, 
rieurs, le représentant de la Tchécoslovaquie p 
pense qu’on ne saurait opposer à une loi inter- ;; 
nationale des dispositions internes, ni non plus ’ 

308 
. 



I 

national law. Nor should attempts be made to re- 
strict the application of a rule which had been 
established as a principle of international law. 

According to Mr. MA~RTUA (Peru), thle 
Soviet Union amendment was mainly concerned 
with the moral aspect of the problem. From that 
standpoint, incleed, the criminal act could not be 
justified by compliance with the law. It would, 
however, be going too far, if in such cases it was 
~YV~YS regarded as a crime within the competence 
of penal law. 

The convention could not include provisions 
contradictory to certain principles of the interna1 
law of the States called upon to apply it. But 
the adoption of the principle contained in the 
USSR amendment would result in a confiict be- 
tween the international law proclaimed in the con- 
vention ancl in the national legislation of Peru 
and of many other countries, which admitted 
that compliance with an order constituted justifi- 
cation and placed responsibility on the giver of 
the order and on those who exceeded it. 

On the other hand, it should net be forgotten 
that the law was the basis of public order and 
that to limit the scope of the law under considera- 
tion would result in niaking non-conipliance a 
ri@ to he enjoyed by every Citizen. Moreover, 
it was difficult to foresee a case in which the law 
would command the commission of genocide. 

For that reason the USSR amendment could 
not be adopted unless modified in the light of the 
prcceding observations. The representative of 
Peru therefore proposed that the words “coin- 
mand of the law or . , .” should be deleted from 
the amcndment and the following phrase “penal 
law Will determine the degree of responsibility 
in each case,” added. 

Mr. KAECXENBEECX (Belgium) saw an advan- 
tage in avoiding the accumulation of obstacles 
which some parliameiits would bave to surmount 
when the time came to ratify the convention. He 
was of the opinion that in that respect tbe United 
Kingdom amendment offered a better solution to 
the problem than that of the USSR. It would 
be a mistake to weaken the protective value of 
the law. The penal law of each country should 
be allowecl to take its normal course, judges being 
permitted to apply the law in accordance with the 
principles of equity with which they were familiar. 

Replying to the arguments of the representa- 
tive of the United States, Mr. CFIAUMONT 
(France) maintained that the punishment of a 
solclier, which did not of course exclude the pun- 
ishment of an officer, was intended to produce a 
profound psychological effect, the deterrent value 
of which had been stressed by the representative 
of Czechoslovakia. On the other hancl, it was per- 
fectly normal that an international law. such as 
the convention on genocide should contain instruc- 
tions to the judges charged with its application. 
It coula not be asserted that it would thereby re- 
strict the power of judges to determine the re- 
sponsibility of the accused. It was possible, as the 
re,presentative of Greece had pointed ouf, that 
certain domestic legislations did not recogmze the 
principle embodied in the Soviet Union amend- 
ment. Did that fact, however, preclude a conven- 
tion from adopting it in the field of international 
law ? Mr. Chaumont recalled that the principle 

restreindre la portée d’une règle érigée en prin- ] U&~ 

cipe de droit international. 

Selon M. MAPIRTUA (Pérou), l’amendement de 
l’Union soviétique envisage surtout le côté moral 
du problème. De ce point de vue, en effet, l’acte 
incriminé ne saurait être justifié par l’obéissance 
& la loi. Mais ce serait aller trop loin que de le 
considérer toujours, dans ce cas, comme un crime 
relevant du droit pénal. 

La convention ne peut contenir de dispositions 
qui seraient en contradiction avec certains prin- 
cipes du droit interne des Etats appelés à l’ap- 
pliquer. Or, l’adoption du principe contenu dans 
l’amendement de l’URSS conduirait à un conflit 
entre la loi internationale proclamée dans la con- 
vention et la législation nationale du Pérou et 
de nombreux pays qui admettent que l’obéissance 
à un ordre constitue un fait justificatif et font 
peser la responsabilité sur celui qui a donné 
l’ordre ou sur ceux qui le dépassent. 

D’autre part, il ne faut pas oublier que la loi 
est la base même de l’ordre public et que limiter 
la portée de cette loi reviendrait à faire du refus 
d’obéissance un droit au gré de chaque citoyen. 
Du reste, il est difficile d’envisager le cas où une 
prescription de la loi ordonnerait de commettre le 
génocide. 

C’est pourquoi l’amendement de l’Union sovié- 
tique ne peut être adopté que s’il est modifié de 
mani&re à tenir compte des observations faites 
précédemment. Le représentant du Pérou propose 
donc de supprimer, dans cet amendement, les 
mots “les prescriptions de la loi ni” et d’ajouter, 
à la fin, la phrase suivante: “La loi pénale dé- 
terminera le degré dc responsabilité suivant les 
cas envisagés”. 

i 

M. KAECXENBEECK (Belgique) considère qu’il 
y a intérêt à ne pas accumuler, pour certains par- 
lements, les obstacles qu’ils auront à surmonter 
IU moment de ratifier la convention. Il est d’avis 
que, à cet égard, l’amendement du Royaume-Uni 
offre du problème une solution préférable à celle 
que propose la délégation de l’URSS. Le repré- 
sentant de la Belgique pense, en effet, que ce 
serait une erreur ‘que d’affaiblir la valeur pro- 
tectrice de la loi et qu’il faut laisser le droit pénal 
;le chaque pays jouer normalement et ses. juges 
sppliquer la loi conformément aux prmclpes 
d’équité qui leur sont familiers. 

( 
t 
, 
< 

1 
, 

, 

1 
1 

1 

i 
< 

i 

i 
t 

1 

1 
1 

i 
1 
1 

M. CHAVMONT (France), répondant: à l’argu- 
mentation du représentant des Etats-Unis, sou- 
tient que la punition du soldat, qui n’exclut pas, d 
bien entendu, celle de l’officier, est appelée à ; 
produire un effet psychologique considérable dont \ 
a vertu préventive a été soulignée par le repré- ..,d 
sentant de la Tchécoslovaquie. D’autre part, il est! 
sarfaitement normal qu’une loi internationale, 
jelle que la convention sur le génocide, donne’des 
.ndications aux juges qui seront chargés de 
‘appliquer. Et l’on ne saurait dire que, de ce fait,\ 
zfle limite leurs pauvoirs d’apprécier la responsa-1 
bilité du coupabie. Il est possible, comme l’a fait 
remarquer le représentant de la Grèce, que cer- 
:aines législations nationales ne reconnaissent pas 
e principe ccrntenu dans l’amendement de l’Union ! 
;oiiétique. Cela empêche-t-il une convention de j 
‘adopter dans le domaine du droit international? % 
M. Chaumont rappelle que ce principe s’inspire du 5 
précédent de Nuremberg et que, s’il n’avait pas j 

. 

309 



was based on the Niirnberg precedent, and, had 
it not then been admitted, Hitler alone would 
have been responsible for the crimes committed by 
the Nazis. 

The French delegation attacbed particular im- 
portance to the adoption of the principle, since, 
in view of statements made by certain repre- 
sentatives, the convention miglit, if it were silent 
on the point, be wrongly interpreted by tbose wbo 
would bave the task of applying it in the future. 

Mr. BARTOS (Yugoslavis) said he would vote 
in favour of the USSR amendment, since it cor- 
responded exactly to the purpose of the conven- 
tion, namely, the recluction in the number of 
crimes, and consequently in the number of victims. 

From a juridical point of view it was quite 
logical that the convention should require do- 
mestic legislation to subordinate itself to inter- 
national law. An international treaty introduced 
into the national 1a.w of a State concerned a lex 
s~ecial~s, which could not be overruled by na- 
tional law. If, on the other hand, certain provi- 
sions of national law did not respect the inter- 
national obligations assumed by a State, those 
provisions would be regarded as non-existent with 
regard to international law by virtue of the saying 
fracs omka corrwnpit. 

The representative of Yugoslavia recalled that, 
at the time when the General Assembly resolu- 
tions on genocide were being drawn up,l a11 the 
delegations seemed to have recognized that the 
principles of the Nürnberg Charter would be 
applied to the convention on genocide. He was 
surprised that in the name of respect for disci- 
pline, an attempt was made to exclude the prin- 
ciple of the responsibility of suborclinates from 
the convention. Mr. Bartos said that it would 
amount to recognizing the system of so-called 
“officia1 chsnnels” thanks to which, in a modern 
State, every responsible person was always cov- 
ered by an order coming from a higher authority. 
In that case the preventive fight against genocide 
would be only an empty Word. 

Mr. ABDOH (Iran) stated tbat, although he 
understood the reasons for the amendment pro- 
posed by the Soviet Union delegation, he could 
not vote in its favour for practical, national and 
moral reasons. 

In the first place, the delegation of Iran hacl 
always been of the opinion that the convention 
should contain only general directives, acceptable 
to ail, and leave it to national legislation to de- 
termine the various methods of application. That 
system would spare the various parliaments and 
Governments many difficulties when the time 
came for ratifying the convention and would also 
allow for the greatest possible number of ac- 
cessions. 

Mr. Abdoh pointed out that the legislation and 
the jurisprudence of Iran did not generally recog- 
nize that obedience to an order constituted justifi- 
cation in civil life. Naturally it was a different 
matter where military affairs were concerned, as 
the necessities of public order required respect 
for discipline. Suc11 respect woulcl cesse to exist 
if, when a soldier received an order, he had to 
decide for himself whether he should execute it 
or not. 

1 See 0 icial Records of thc sccoml part of the j;rst 
sessiori o F the General Assmbly, 55th plenary meeting; 
and Oflkial Records of the second session of the General 
Assenzbly, 123rd plenary meeting. < 

alors été admis, le seul responsable des crimes 
commis par les nazis eût été Hitler. 

La délégation française attache une importance 
particulière à l’adoption de ce principr\, car, ep 
raison des déclarations faites par certains repre- 1 
sentants, le silence de la convention sur ce point 
pourrait être mal interprété par ceux qui auront 

l 

à l’appliquer dans l’avenir. 

M. BARTOS (Yougoslavie) votera en faveur de 
l’amendement de l’URSS, car celui-ci répond 
exactement au but même de la convention qui est 
de réduire le nombre des crimes, et, par con&- 
quent, celui des victimes. 

Du point de vue juridique, il est parfaitement 
logique que la convention demande à la loi na- 
tionale qu’elle se subordonne à la loi interna- 
tionale. Un traité international introduit dans le 
droit interne de 1’Etat intéressé une Zex speciaiis 
qui ne peut être contredite par ce droit interne. 
Dans Ie cas contraire, si, par certaines de ses 
dispositions, le droit national ne respecte pas les 
obligations internationales assumées par l’Eta& 
ces dispositions seront considérées comme inexis- 
tantes au regard du droit international, en vertu 
de l’adage fraus omnia corrwn@it. 

Le représentant de la Yougoslavie rappelle que, 
lors de l’élaboration des résolutions sur le géno- 
cide à l’Assemblée généralel, il semblait que. toutes 
les délégations avaient admis que les pnnclpes 
du Statut du Tribunal de Nuremberg seraient 
appliqués à la convention sur le génocide. 11 
s’étonne qu’on veuille maintenant, au nom du 
respect de la discipline, exclure de la convention 
le principe de la responsabilité des 
M. Bartos fait ,observer que cela 
reconnaître le système dit 
auquel, dans un Etat moderne, 
est toujours couvert par un 
Dans ce cas, la lutte préventive contre le génocid 
ne serait plus qu’un vain mot. 

M. ABDOH (Iran), bien qu’il comprenne les 
motifs de l’amendement proposé par la délégation 
de l’Union soviétique, ne pourra voter en sa fa- 
veur, pour des raisons d’ordre pratique, natianal 
et moral. 

En premier lieu, la délégation de l’Iran a tou- 

jours pensé que la convention ne devait contenir 
que des directives générales, acceptées par tous, 
et laisser aux législations nationales le soin de 
fixer les modalités d’application. Cette méthode 
éviterait bien des difficultés aux parlements et 
aux GouveTnements au moment de la ratification 
et permettrait de recueillir lc plus grand nombre 
possible d’adhésions. 

En ce qui concerne la législation et la juris- 
prudence de l’Iran, M. Abdoh précise qu’elles 
n’admettent pas, d>une manière générale, que 
l’obéissance à un ordre constitue un fait justifi- 
catif dans la vie civile. Toutefois, en matière 
militaire, il en est autrement, car les nécessités 
de l’ordre public imposent le respect de la dis- 
cipline. Celle-ci cesserait d’exister si, quand il 
reçoit un ordre, le soldat avait à décider lui-même 
s’il doit ou non l’exécuter, 

lVoir les Documents officiels de la seconde partie de 
la p?-em%-e session de l’Assemblée générale, .Wme séance 
plénière; et les Doczmeuts offkiels de la deuxième 
session de l’Assemblée gkr&ale, 123bme séance plénière. 



Finally, from the moral point of view, the repre- 
sentative of Iran thought it was difficult to accept 
the idea that punishment should be inflicted on 
a person who had, without intent, committed the 
act of which he was accused. 

Mr. FXDERSPIEL (Denmark) agreed with the 
principle unclerlying the USSR amendment, and 
stated that the principle invoked was not con- 
trary ta any provisions of the interna1 legislation 
of his country. He would not, however, vote in 
favour of the amendment for the reasons already 
cxpressecl by the Belgian representative, as it was 
important that the convention should, above all, 
be acceptable to a very large number of States. 

Mr. Federspiel adcled that that amendment, 
which would involve important modifications in 
many national legislations, would also affect the 
right of self-defence, which had been rccognized 
in many instruments. It would seem that in face 
of an accusation as serious as that of genocide, no 
means of justification should be refused to the 
defence. That was a problem which deserved 
considerable thought. 

Mr. LACHS (Poland) considered that none of 
the objections raisecl against the Soviet Union 
amendment was convincing. 

It coulcl not be denied that, if the principle of 
the responsibility of subordinates had not been 
applied at Nürnberg, many. guilty persons would 
bave escaped punishment by invoking the orders 
of their superiors. The Poli& representative 
pointed out that that principle was covered by 
article 8 of the Nürnberg Charter and that the 
Judgment of that Tribunal, in mentioning that 
article, had stated that it was in accordance with 
the common law of States. In the majority of 
legislations, command of the law or superior 
orders was only an attenuating circumstance and 
not a justification. It would appear that those 
legisiations did not therefore consider intent as 
a necessary element in criminal responsibility. 

Mr. Lachs shared the view of the representa- 
tive of France that the adoption of that principle 
would not in any way limit the authority of the 
judge, as the United States representative claimed, 
inasmuch as he would be free to apply the at- 
tenuating circumstances. The role of the legis- 
lator was to determine the degree of responsi- 
bility of the guilty parties and he could decide 
that the judge should not be obliged to acquit 
anyone invoking an order from his superior as a 
justification. 

With regard to the objection raised by the 
Belgian representative, Mr. Lachs considered 
that, if certain legislations ignored that principle, 
article VI of the convention would, in that re- 
spect, make its recognition obligatory and . its 
adoption necessary. 

Mr. Lachs recalled that if the USSR amend- 
ment suppressed the justification of superior 
orders, it did not suppress certain other elements 
in the criminal act, such as coercion and the im- 
possibility of refusing to act, which could play 
an important part in determining the responsi- 
bility of the accused. 

As there was no valid legal reason against 
adoption of the Soviet Union amendment, the 
Polish representative considered that it should 
be adopted; without it the convention would net 

Du point de vue moral enfin, le représentant 
de 1’Iran estime difficilement acceptable l’idée 
qu'on puisse infliger un châtiment à celui qui n’a 
pas eu l’intention de commettre l’acte qu’on lui 
reproche. 

M. FEDERSFIEL (Danemark) déclare approuver 
le principe qui inspire l’amendement de l’URSS 
et il précise que ce principe ne contredit aucune 
disposition du dro,it interne de son pays. Néan- 
moins, il ne votera pas en faveur de cet amende 
ment pour les raisons déjà exposées par le reprb 
semant de la Belgique, car il importe avant tou i 
que la convention soit acceptable pour un très 
grand nombre d’Etats. 

M. Federspiel fait observer, en outre, que. cet 
amendement, qui entraînerait des modifications 
importantes dans beaucoup de législations, por- 
terait également atteinte aux droits de la défense, 
tels qu’ils sont reconnus par de nombreuses procé- 
dures. Or, il semble qu’en présence d’une accusa- 
tion aussi grave que celle de génocide, aucun 
moyen de justification ne doive être refusé à la 
défense, C’est là un problème qui mériterait un 
examen très approfondi. 

M. LACHS (Pologne) constate qu’aucune des 
objections formulées contre l’amendement de 
l’Union soviétique n’est convaincante. 

On ne peut nier que, si le principe de la 
responsabilité des subalternes n’avait pas été 
appliqué à Nuremberg, de nombreux coupables 
auraient échappé au châtiment en invoquant l’or- 
dre de leurs supérieurs hiérarchiques. Le Tepfé- 
sentant de la Pologne rappelle que ce prmcrpe 
est consacré dans l’article 8 du Statut du Tribunal 
de Nuremberg et que le Jugement de ce Tribunal, 
en mentionnant cet article, précise qu’il est con- 
forme au droit commun des Etats. En effet, dans 
la majorité des législations, l’ordre de la loi OLI 
de l’autorité supérieure n’est qu’une circonstance 
atténuante et non pas un fait justificatif. Ces 
législations, semble-t-il, ne considèrent donc pas 
l’intention comme un élément nécessaire de la 
responsabilité criminelle. 

M. Lachs pense, comme le représentant de la 
France, que l’adoption de ce principe ne lierait 
nullement le juge, ainsi que le prétend le repré- 
sentant des Etats-Unis, puisqu’il demeurerait libre 
d’appliquer les circonstances atténuantes. C’est le 
rôle du législateur de déterminer le degré de res- 
ponsabilité des coupables et il peut décider que le 
juge ne sera pas obligé d’acquitter celui qui in- 
voque l’ordre de son supérieur pour se justifier. 

Quant à l’objection du -représentant de la 
Belgique, M. Lachs estime que, si certaines légis- 
lations ignorent ce principe, l’article VI de la 
convention leur fera une obligation de le recou- 
naître et de l’adopter en cette matière, 

M. Lachs rappelle que, si l’amendement de 
l’URSS suDorime le fait iustificatif de l’ordre 
supérieur, &iî n’en laisse ‘pas moins subsister 
certains autres éléments de l’acte criminel, tels . 
que la contrainte et l’impossibilité du refus d’agir, 
qui peuvent jouer un rôle important dans la dé- 
termination de la responsabilité du coupable. 

Aucune raison juridiqne valable ne s’opposant 
à l’adoption cle l’amendement de l’Union sovié- 
tique, le représentant de la Pologne est d’avis 
qu’il doit être accepté, sans quoi la convention 

311 



be an efficient instrument in the fight against 
genocide. 

Mr. INGLÉS (Philippines) declared that he 
would willingly have supported the principle Pro- 
posed by the Soviet Union amendment, which 
was recognized by the legislation of bis country, 
if certain delegations had not stated that that 
principle was incompatible with the domestic laws 
of their countries, and that its adoption would con- 
stitute an obstacle to the ratification of the con- 
vention. 

For that reason, the Philippines representative 
would abstain from voting. 

Mr. PRATT DE MARRA (Uruguay) confronted 
by two views, one that punishment should be 
effective (as the Soviet Union amendment re- 
quired), the other that it should be just, had 
decided in favour of the text proposed by the 
Ad Hoc Committee. I-Ie thought the latter was 
sufficiently flexible to permit a compromise be- 
tween both opinions, while taking into considera- 
tion the principle of obedience which was the 
basis of a11 legislation. 

Mr. MAKTOS (United States of America) 
agreed with the representative of France that 
when legislating on the question the law-makers 
had the right to advise the judges entrusted with 
the application of the convention, but he did not 
think that the directives proposed by the delega- 
tion of the USSR should be accepted, as their 
danger had already been sufiïciently stressed. 

Mr. MAURTUA (Peru) , observing that the ma- 
jority of the delegations appeared to oppose the 
Soviet Union amendment, withdrew his own 
amendment’ to the latter, 

Mr. CAMEY HERRERA (Guatemala) stated that 
the Constitution of his country characterized the 
army as a non-political body and imposed on it 
the obligation to obey the orders it received. A 
new principle had, however, been introduced into 
the Guatemalan legislation that, when the orders 
given concerned a civilian, the duty to ohey did 
net go SO far as the execution of those orders if 
they were illegal. Guatemala had therefore recog- 
nized in anticipation the principle which was the 
purpose of the USSR amendment. 

Mr. Camey Herrera considered the adoption 
of that principle essential if the convention were 
to punish a11 criminals, even those-and they were 
numerous-who could invoke an order from a 
superior. 

As a compromise, however, the representative 
of Guatemala suggested that the phrase dealing 
with command of the law should be deleted in 
the amendment, which would then refer only to 
orders received from superior authorities. 

Mr. MORO?OV (Union of Soviet Socialist Re- 
publics) remarked that in the course of the dis- 
cussion the original sense of his 
amendment had often been distorted. 

delegation’s 

Thus, the representative of the Dominican Re- 
public had even gone SO far as to say that the 
principle proposed by that amendment would 
lead to confusion and anarchy. The representa- 
tive of Uruguay, for his part, had reproached the 
Soviet Union delegation for attaching more im- 
portance to the effectiveness of the punishment 
than to justice. Mr. Morozov stated that those 

le serait pas tln instrument’efficace de lutte contre 
e génocide. 

M. INGLÉS (Ph+lippines) déclare qu’il eût VO- 
,ontiers appuyé le principe proposé par l’amende- 
lient de l’union soviétique! qui est recpnnu ,Par 
a législatioll de son pays, SI certames delegatlons 
n’avaient fait o;hserver que ce principe est Incom- 
satible avec leur droit interne et qu’il cOnStituerait 
bn obstacle à la ratification de la convention. 

C’est pourquoi le représentant des Philippines 
s’abstiendra de voter. 

M. P~TT DE MARRA (Uruguay), en présence 
des deux opinions qui se font jour, l’une tendant 
à ce qLle la punition soit efficace (comme le veut 
l’amendement de l’union, soviétique), l’autre à ce 
qu’elle soit juste, opte pour le texte proposé par 
le Comité spécial qu’il juge assez souple pour per- 
mettre un compromis entre ces deux tendances, 
tout en ménageant le principe de l’obéissance qui 
est la base de toutes les législations. 

M. MAKTOS (Etats-Unis d’Amérique) est d’ac- 
tord avec le représentant de la France pour 
reconnaître qu’en légiférant sur cette matière, on 
est en droit de donner des indications aux juges 
qui seront chargés d’appliquer la cofivention, Illais 
il ne pense pas que ces directives doivent être 
celles que propose la délégation de l’URSS, leur 
danger ayant été suffisamment souligné. 

M. MAURTUA (Pérou), constatant que la Illa- 
jorité des délégations semble opposée à l’amen- 
dement de l’union soviétique, retire son propre 
amendement qui tendait à le modifier. 

M. CAMEY HERRERA (Guatemala) indique q’“e 
la Constitution de son pays qualifie l’armhe de 
corps non politique et lui impose d’obéir ,zcix 
ordres qu’elle reçoit. Mais un principe nouveau 
a été inttiocluit dans la législation ~LT Guatemala 
selon lequel, lorsque les ordres donnés concernent 
un civil, le devoir d’obéissance ne va pas 
jusqu’à les exécuter s’ils sont illégaux. Le Gnate- 
mala a donc déjà reconnu par avance le principe 
qui fait l’objet de l’amendement de l’URSS. 

M. Camey Herrera pense que l’adoption de ce 
principe s’impose de toute nécessité si l’on veut 

que la convention permette de punir ‘tous les 
auteurs ,du crime, même ceux, et ils sont nom- 
breux, qui pourraient invoquer un Drclre 
Supérieur. 

Toutefois, à titre de compromis, le représentant 
du Guatemala suggère que le membre de phrase 
visant les prescriptions de la loi soit supprimé 
dans cet amendement qui ne concernerait ainsi 
que l’ordre des autorités supérieures. 

Ma MoRozov (Union des Républiques socia- 
listes soviétiques) fait remarquer qu’au cours de 
la discussion l’amendement de sa délégation a 
souvent été détourné de son sens véritable. 

*C’est ainsi que le représentant de la Répu- 
blique Dominicaine a été jusqu’à dire q"e le 
principe Proposé par cet amendement col&~irait 
au désordre et à l’anarchie. Le représentant de 
1’UWuaY, de son côté, a reproché 5 la &&a- 
tien de l’Union soviétique de rechercher l’effica- 
cité du châtiment plus que la justice. M. Morozov 
affirme que ces deux tendances ne sauraient 

312 



two views COL&~ not be opposed and that the pur- 
pose of the USSR amendment was to obtain 
justice through the effectiveness of the pun- 
ishment. 

On the other hand, it was not correct to state, 
as the representatives of the Unitecl States and 
Venezuela had done, that the amendment wo«lcl 
Iead to the condemnation of innoceot people. The 
Soviet Union proposa1 had, in fact, stated that 
neither command of the law nor superior orclers 
could justify genocide. The word genocide re- 
ferred there explicitly to the definition of the 
crime, as covered by articles II sud IV of the 
draft convention, in which definition the element 
of intent was includecl. An innocent person would 
not therefore be condemned as he tiould not have 
had the intention of committing the crime ; only 
the truly guilty party would be punishecl. 

The amendment proposed by the USSR clele- 
gation was only the addition of an explanation to 
article V iii order to bring it into line with the 
principles established at Nürnberg, and completed 
the article by extending punishment to a11 re- 
sponsible parties. The representatives of France 
and of Poland hacl rightly observed that, if the 
principle of the responsibility of subordinates hacl 
not been recognized at Nürnberg, one single man 
COL&~ have been declared guilty for a11 the nazi 
crimes : Hitler liimself. 

But it was particularly in the field of the pre- 
vention of genocide that the amenclment took on 
its full meaning. It would in fact constitute a 
solemn warning to a11 those who might be tempted 
to obey orders inciting to crime and make them 
face their persona1 responsibility. In that sense, 
the amenclment wo~~lcl, in many instances, help to 
prevent the consummation of a crime, and that 
was the United Nations’ main purpose in drawing 
up the convention of genocide. 

The CHAIRMAN put to the vote the Soviet 
Union amenclment adding to article V a second 
paragraph resding as follows: “Command of the 
law or superior orders shall not justify genocide.” 
[A/C.d/215/Rev. 1-j. 

Mr. MOROZOV (Union of Soviet Socialist Re- 
publics) askecl that the vote be taken by roll-call. 

The vote was taken by roll-call. 
Bolivia, having been drawn by lot by the Chair- 

?nan, voted first. 
In favo~: Byelorussian Soviet Socialist Re- 

public, Czechoslovakia, Egypt, Ethiopia, France, 
Guatemala, Mexico, Norway, Panama, Poland, 
Syria, Ukrainian Soviet Socialist Republic, Union 
of Soviet Socialist Republics, Yemen, Yugoslavia. 

Aguinst: Brazil, Canada, Chile, China, Cuba, 
Denmark, Dominican Republic, Ecuador, El Sal- 
vador, Greece, India, Iran, Liberia, Luxembourg, 
Netherlancls, New Zealancl, Nicaragua, Siam, 
Sweden, Turkey, United Kingdom, Unitecl States 
of America, Uruguay, Venezuela, Afghanistan, 
Argentina, Australia, Belgium. 

Abstentions: Colombia, Pakistan, Peru, Philip- 
pines, Saudi Arabia, Union of South Africa. 

The a~ne~zd~%emt was rejccted by 28 votes to 
15, nvith 0 abste7ztions. 

être mises en opposition et que l’amendement de 
l’URSS a pour objet d’atteindre à la justice par 
l’efficacité de la punition. 

D’autre part, il n’est pas exact de dire, comme 
l’ont fait les représentants des Etats-Unis et du 
Venezuela, que cet amendement aboutirait à la 
condamnation d’innocents. En effet, la proposition 
de l’Union soviétique dit que ni les prescriptions 
de la loi, ni l’ordre d’une autorité supérieure ne 
peuvent justifier le génocide. Ce dernier mot 
renvoie expressément à la définition du crime, 
telle qu’elle résulte des articles II et IV du projet 
de convention, définition dans laquelle est inclus 
l’élément de l’intention. L’innocent ne saurait 
donc être condamné puisqu’il n’aura pas eu I’in- 
tention de commettre le crime; seul le vrai cou- 
pable sera puni. 

L’amendement proposé par la délégation de 
l’URSS n’est qu’une précision ajoutée a l’article 
V, qui le rend conforme aux principes de Nurem- 
berg et le complète en étendant la répression j 
tous les exécutants. Les représentants de la 
France et de la Pologne ont justement fait ob- 
server que si le principe de la responsabilité des 
subalternes n’avait pas été reconnu à Nuremberg, 
un seul homme eût pu être déclaré coupable de 
tous les crimes hitlériens, Hitler lui-même. 

Mais c’est surtout dans le domaine de la prk- 
vention du génocide que l’amendement prend tout 
son sens, Il constituera en effet un avertissement 
solennel j tous ceux qui seraient tentés de suivre 
les ordres incitant au crime et les mettra en face 
de leur responsabilité personnelle. En cela, 
l’amendement contribuera dans de trés nombreux 
cas à empêcher la consommation du crime et c’est 
le but essentiel que se propose l’Organisation des 
Nations Unies en élaborant la convention sur le 
génocide. 

Le PRÉSIDENT met aux voix l’amendement de 
l’Union soviétique tendant à ajouter à l’article 
V un deuxième alinéa ainsi conçu: “Les 
prescriptions de la loi ni l’ordre d’une autorité I . ne peuvent justifier le gCnocide” 
;2727&5&?v.1] * 

M. MOROZOV (Union des Républiques socia- 
listes soviétiques) demande l’appel nominal. 

Il est prockdé azt vote par appel nominal. s 

LJappel commence par la Bolivie, donb le nom 
est tiré a% sort par le Président. 

Votelzt pour: République socialiste soviétique 
de Biélorussie, Tchécoslovaquie, Egypte, Ethio- 
pie, France, Guatemala,, Mexique, Norvège, 
Panama, Pologne, Syrie, République sociahstc 
soviétique d’Ukraine, Union des Républiques 
socialistes soviétiques, Yémen, Yougoslavie. 

Vote& contre: Brésil, Canada, Chili, Chine, 
Cuba, Danemark, République Dominicaine, Equa- 
teur, Salvador, Grèce, Inde, Iran, Libéria, Luxem- 
bourg, Pays-Bas, Nouvelle-Zélande, Nicaragua, 
Siam, Suède, Turquie, Royaume-Uni, Etats-Unis 
d’Amérique, Uruguay, Venezuela, Afghanistan, 
Argentine, Australie, Belgique. 

Sabstiment: Colombie, Pakistan, Pérou, 
Philippines, Arabie Saoudite, Union Sud-Afri- 
caine. 

Par 28 voix contre 15, avec 6 absten/ions, 
I’amendeme7~t est rejeté.. 

313 



Mr. CORREA (Ecuador) explained that in vot- 
ing against the amendment, he had not pro- 
nounced himself against the principle it contained, 
which seemed to him to be jus!, but too rigidly 
defined, In his opinion that prmciple should be 
applied by the tribunals with a11 the flexibility 
necessary to take into account the special circum- 
stances pertaining to each case. 

Mr. CHAUMONT (France) stated that his dele- 
gation did not consider that the decision taken 
might have the effect of allowing guilty persons 
to escape international justice. 

Mr. DE BEUS (Netherlands) had voted against 
the amendment because he considered that the 
scope of the principle should be defined by the 
International Law Commission, and ir was there- 
fore premature to take a decision at that point. 

Mr. MAKTOS (United States of America) en- 
dorsed the remarks of the representative of the 
Netherlands. 

Mr. AMADO (Brazil) explained bis vote by 
associating himself with the remarks of the repre- 
sentatives of Ecuador and the Netherlands, and 
added that the principles of Nürnberg, which had 
been mention, had not to date been definitely 
formulated. That was the responsibility of the 
International Law Commission and it was in the 
text which would result from the work of that 
Commission that the principle of the amendment 
submitted by the USSR should find its place. 

The meeting rose at 1 p.m, 

NINETY-THIRD MEETING 

Held at the Pa2ais de ChailEot, Paris, 
on Saturday, 6 November 1948, at 10.45 a.m. 

Chairman: Mr. R. J. ALFARO (Panama). 

42. Continuation of the coneideration 
of the draft convention on geuocide 
[E/794] : report of the Economie 
and Social Council [A/6333 

ARTICLE V (contimed) 

The CHAIRMAN invited the Committee to con- 
tinue the debate on article V of the draft con- 
vention, and in particular on the Swedish amend- 
ment to that article (92nd meeting), 

Mr. FITZMAURICE (United Kingdom) said he 
was in favour of the Swedish amendment, be- 
cause by the deletion of “heads of State” in the 
enumeration of the persons liabie, it would re- 
solve a difficulty which arose also for the United 
Kingdom, where the king was not subject to the 
provisions of the penal code and could not be 
brought before any court. It was constitutionally 
impossible to introduce legislation to alter that 
situation. It would, therefore, be equally impos- 
sible for the United Kingdom to accept the obli- 
gation resulting from article V. 

However, if the head of State of a constitu- 
tional monarchy were not responsible, it was ap- 
propriate that his acts! if they constltuted an act 
of genocide, should gwe rise to reparation. For 
tbat reason, the acts of the monarch, being acts 
of the State or the Government since he could 
act only on the advice of his ministers, the United 

M. CORREA (Equateur), en votant contre 
‘amendement, s’est prononcé non pas contre le 
lrincipe qu’il énonçait et qui lui paraît juste, 
nais contre la disposition trop stricte. Il pense 
lue ce principe doit être appliqué par les tribu- 
laux avec toute la souplesse nécessaire pour tenir 
:ompte des circonstances particulières à ‘chaque 
:as. 

M. CHAUMONT (France) déclare que sa délé- 
:ation ne considère pas que la décision qui a été 
?rise puisse avoir pour effet de faire échapper 
ies coupables à la justice internationale. 

M. DE BEUS (Pays-Bas) a voté contre l’amén- 
iement parce qu’il pense que la portée du prin- 
:ipe qu’il contenait doit être précisée par la 
Zommission chargée de la codification du droit 
international et qu’il était prématuré de prendre 
une décision dès maintenant. 

M. MAKTOS (Etats-Unis d’Amérique) s’asso- 
5e à la déclaration du représentant des Pays-Bas. 

M. AMADO (BrCsil) explique son vote par les 
raisons que viennent d’exposer les représentants 
ie l’Equateur et des Pays-Bas et il fait observer 
que les principes de Nuremberg, dont il a été 
parlé, n’ont pas encore été définitivement formu- 
lés. Il appartiendra à la Commission du droit 
international de le faire et c’est dans le texte qui 
sortira de ses travaux que le principe de l’amen- 
dement de l’URSS devra trouver sa place. 

La séance est levée à 13 heures. 

QUATRE-VINGT-TREIZIEME SEANCE 
Tenue au Palais de Chaillot, Paris, 

le samedi 6 novembre 1948, à 10 12. 45. 

Président: M. R. J. ALFARO (Panama). 

42, Suite de l’examen du projet de con- 
vention sur le génocide [E/794] : 
rapport du Conseil économique et 
social [A /633] 

ARTICLE V (suite) 

Le PRÉSIDENT invite la Commission à pour- 
suivre le débat sur l’article V du projet de con- 
ventioq notamment sur l’amendement suédois à 
cet article (92eme séance). 

M. FITZMAURICE (Royaume-Uni) se déclare 
favorable à l’amendement suédois, parce qu’il 
resoudrait, par la suppression des gouvernants 
dans l’énumération des coupables, une difficulté 
qui se pose également pour le Royaume-Uni, où 
le roi n’est pas soumis aux dispositions du 
droit pénal et ne peut être traduit devant aucune 
juridiction. Il est constitutionnellement impossible 
d’introduire une législation pour modifier cette 
situation. Il serait donc également impossible 
pour le Royaume-Uni d’accepter 
résultant de l’article V. 

l’engagement 

Toutefois, si le chef d’Etat d’une monarchie 
parlementaire demeure irresponsable, il convient 
que ses actes, s’ils constituent un génocide, don- 
nent lieu à réparation. C’est pourquoi, les actes 
du monarque étant des actes de 1’Etat 0~ du 
gouvernement, puisqu’il ne peut agir que sur 
l’avis de ses ministres, la délégation du Royaume- 

314 


